
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 9 December 2019 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 17 December 2019, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Joan Ellis Councillor Janet Farebrother 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Adrian Kirkbride 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 
2019 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting. 

  



5. FUL/2019/0206 Erection of single storey dwelling, Mardale, William Street, 
Wigton  (Pages 13 - 34) 

 

6. FUL/2019/0210 Erection of new discount foodstore with car parking, 
landscaping and other associated works, Land at New Bridge Road, 
Workington  (Pages 35 - 62) 

 

7. TPO/2019/0009 Confirmation of tree preservation order for 6 Swedish 
Whitebeams, Land adjacent to Tesco, New Bridge Road, Workington  
(Pages 63 - 72) 

 

 
 

 
 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 14 January 2020, 1.00 pm 

Allerdale House, Workington 
 
 



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 19 November 2019 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair)  
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
Councillor Will Wilkinson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Joan Ellis and Councillor Adrian 
Kirkbride 
 
Staff Present 
 
J Irving, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, S Long and S Sewell 
 

 
224. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2019 were signed as a correct 
record. 
 

225. Declaration of Interests  
 
None Declared 
 

226. Questions  
 
None received 
 

227. Development Panel - 02/2019/9010 - High Close Quarry, High Close Farm, 
Plumbland - Application for the determination of new planning conditions 
under the Environment Act 1995 (as amended) for the dormant minerals 
planning permission ref CA49 incorporating plant, stockpiling and 
storage. 
 
Representations 
 
Chris Watson, on behalf of Plumbland Parish Council spoke against the 
proposal. 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended that Allerdale Borough Council submit comments to 
the Minerals Planning Authority based upon the assessment detailed in Section 
11 of the report, expressing why some conditions need to be amended, why 
new conditions are also required and that full comments cannot be made at this 
stage with further time being required to provide additional representations 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



following receipt of advice from consultees such as the County Highways 
Authority. 
 
The Head of Place Development and Housing introduced the item and 
confirmed that the development panel had attended a site visit. 
 
Members were advised that Allerdale Borough Council were not the decision 
maker on this proposal, but could provide representations as a consultee. 
 
The Head of Place Development and Housing then went through the main 
issues as detailed in the report explaining to members that the proposed 
conditions do not fully address the issues associated with the development. 
Members were also advised of the representations received in particular the 
detailed representations from Plumbland Parish Council. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers and speakers and debate followed relating 
to the proposed conditions, the existing landfill, noise, the proximity of nearby 
residential areas to the quarry, gas pipes and highway issues. 
 
Councillor Farebrother moved the motion to approve the officer 
recommendations but that in addition to the issues raised in Section 11 of the 
report the Mineral Planning Authority be asked to give further consideration to 
the impact on the gas pipe running through the site, the wider impact on all 
communities between Parsonby and West Newton and that further information 
be requested in relation to leachate from the former landfill operation at the site.  
 
This was seconded by Councillor Grainger 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
Resolution 
 
That Allerdale Borough Council submit comments to the Minerals Planning 
Authority based upon the assessment detailed in Section 11 of this report, 
expressing why some conditions need to be amended, why new conditions are 
also required and that full comments cannot be made at this stage with further 
time being required to provide additional representations following receipt of 
advice from consultees such as the County Highways Authority and that in 
addition to the issues raised in Section 11 of the report the Mineral Planning 
Authority be asked to give further consideration to the impact on the gas pipe 
running through the site, the wider impact on all communities between 
Parsonby and West Newton and that further information be requested in relation 
to leachate from the former landfill operation at the site. 
 

228. Development Panel - 02/2019/9011 - High Close Quarry, High Close Farm, 
Plumbland - New vehicular access  
 
Representations 
 
Brian Stephenson, on behalf of Plumbland Parish Council spoke against the 
proposal. 

Page 2



 
Application 
 
The report recommended that the Mineral Planning Authority be advised that in 
determining the application they should have regard to the comments of 
Cumbria County Council’s highway officer. 
 
The Head of Place Development and Housing introduced the item and 
confirmed that the development panel had attended a site visit. 
 
Members were advised that Allerdale Borough Council were not the decision 
maker on this proposal, but could provide representations as a consultee. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues 
as detailed in the report. 
 
New Access 
 
Officers consider the creation of a new access to be acceptable in principle; 
however at this stage without the comments from Cumbria County Council 
Highways Authority, it is not considered that a recommendation can be 
provided. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers and speakers and debate followed relating 
to visibility splay, current HGV use, land ownership, and closure of the existing 
access.  
 
Councillor Grainger moved the following motion: 
 
That the Mineral Planning Authority be advised that  

 Development Panel Members have concerns about the ability of the 
applicant to provide a safe access to the quarry development 

 That clarification is requested as to the applicants ability to provide the 
visibility splays shown in view of concerns raised in relation to the land 
ownership and whether the correct ownership certificates have been 
served as part of the planning application 

 That Allerdale Borough Council be provided with a further opportunity to 
comment when clarity has been provided in relation to these issues and 
comments have been received from the local highway authority.  

 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
Resolution 
 
That the Mineral Planning Authority be advised that  
 

 Development Panel Members have concerns about the ability of the 
applicant to provide a safe access to the quarry development 

Page 3



 That clarification is requested as to the applicants ability to provide the 
visibility splays shown in view of concerns raised in relation to the land 
ownership and whether the correct ownership certificates have been 
served as part of the planning application 

 That Allerdale Borough Council be provided with a further opportunity to 
comment when clarity has been provided in relation to these issues and 
comments have been received from the local highway authority. 

 
 

229. Development Panel - OUT/2019/0031 - Meadow Bank, Oughterside - 
Outline application for residential development of up to 25 dwellings 
(resubmission of 2/2014/0690)  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended that the decision to grant planning permission subject 
to conditions, be delegated to the Planning and Building Control Manager upon 
the signing of a section 106 agreement securing 6 affordable housing units on 
the site and £4,020 for the upgrade of existing off-site provision for children and 
young people in the village. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer went through the issues as detailed in the report.  
 
It was highlighted to members that the application had the benefit of previous 
outline consent, under 2/2014/0690 which has lapsed. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The scale of the development is considered commensurate to the size and role 
of Prospect as a Local Service Centre. The site is directly adjacent to the built 
envelope and within walking distance of the facilities Prospect and Oughterside 
offer and the strategic bus route. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
Access is not reserved for subsequent approval. The proposed highway 
arrangements are considered acceptable. The Highways Authority has no 
objections. Officers did not support the highway authorities request for a speed 
survey as the access was now within updated speed limits for the village. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
The proposed development would provide 6 affordable housing units on the 
site. This equates to 25% and fulfils the current Local Plan policy requirements. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers and debate followed relating to affordable 
housing, play facilities and sustainability. 
 
Councillor Munby moved the motion to approve the officer’s recommendations. 

Page 4



 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Grainger. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve the officer’s recommendations, 11 
voted in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be delegated to the 
Planning and Building Control Manager upon the signing of a section 106 
agreement securing 6 affordable housing units on the site and £4,020 for the 
upgrade of existing off-site provision for children and young people in the 
village. 
 
Conditions 
 
Reserved matters submission 
 
1. Before any works commence, details of the layout, scale and 
appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development. 
 
2. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no 
later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this 
permission and the development shall begin no later than whichever is 
the later of the following dates: 
a) The expiration of three years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, 
or 
b) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the 'reserved 
matters' or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with the requirements of Section 92 of The Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
3. Any application for 'reserved matters' of layout shall include plans 
showing the following: 
a) Cross sections through the site; 
b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels; 
c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings; 
d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved. 
 

Page 5



Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation 
to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
4. The layout Reserved Matters Application(s) for the site shall include 
details showing the provision within each plot for the parking of vehicles 
commensurate with the Cumbria Parking Standards. No dwelling shall be 
occupied until the approved facilities for that dwelling are fully 
constructed. 
These approved facilities shall be retained and capable of use when the 
development is commenced and shall not be removed or altered without 
the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and 
retained for use in relation to the development, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 
 
5. The Reserved Matters Application for landscaping shall be 
accompanied by a landscape scheme for hedgerow and planting along the 
southern boundary, and replacement of any section of the hedgerow 
along the eastern boundary required to be removed as part of the 
formation of the access to the site. 
This scheme shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and implemented thereafter in accordance with the approved details and 
prior to first occupation of the first dwelling. 
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
Accordance with plans 
 
6. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following plans: 
Location Plan rev A 
C001 Proposed Site Access Junction 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Phase 1 Desk Top Study Report 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 
Pre-commencement 
 
7. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, 
constructed, drained and lit (including such infill lighting as may be 
required between the systems in Prospect and Oughterside to support a 
speed restriction) to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect 
further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted 

Page 6



to the Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of the 
development hereby permitted is commenced. No work other than site 
clearance and site investigations shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
completed. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 
8. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 60 metres measured down the centre of the access road 
and the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the 
junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall 
be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splays which 
exceed 1 metre in height and obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility 
splays shall be constructed before general development of the site 
commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access for the development in the 
interests of highway safety. 
 
9. No development shall commence until a surface water drainage 
scheme, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The drainage scheme must include: 
 

(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment 
thereof). 
This investigation shall include evidence of an assessment of 
ground conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface 
water; 

(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local 
planning authority (If it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by 
the investigations); and 

(iii)A timetable for its implementation. 
 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non- 
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 
2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards. 
 
The approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation 
of any of the dwellinghouses hereby approved. 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in compliance with the National 

Page 7



Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
10. All necessary site investigation works highlighted by the GEO 
Environmental Engineering Phase 1 Desk Top Study within the site 
boundary must be undertaken to establish the degree of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm 
to human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 
 
11. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desk 
top study under condition 10 be found which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, 
identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of 
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 
 
12. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following: 
 

a)  Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including the parking and turning facilities 
and off-street compound staff traffic; 

b)  Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from 
the construction and demolition and to monitor any 
properties at risk of damage from vibration, as well as taking 
into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
measurements should make reference to BS7445. 

c)  Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual 
impact, noise, and light pollution. 

d)  A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 

e)  Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition; 

f)  Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
g)  Hours of working and deliveries; 
h)  Details of lighting to be used on site. 

Page 8



 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway safety, and the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 
13. Before any development takes place, a plan shall be submitted for the 
prior approval of the Local Planning Authority reserving adequate land for 
site offices/material storage and the parking of vehicles/plant engaged in 
the construction operations associated with the development hereby 
approved, and that land, including vehicular access thereto, shall be used 
for or be kept available for these purposes at all times until the completion 
of the construction works. 
 
Reason: The carrying out of this development without the provision of these 
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and 
danger to road users. 
 
Before development first use 
 
14. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 11, the 
approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 
 
Other 
 
15. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 
 

Page 9



16. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
Advisory 
 
1. Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service are committed to reducing the impact 
of fire on people, property and the environment. For this reason, it is 
recommended that the applicant should give consideration to the 
inclusion of a sprinkler system within the design of the premises. 
 

230. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0129 - Helena Thompson Museum, Park 
End Road, Workington - Extensions to create a new entrance porch and 
ramp, rear extension and alterations to access  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended granting permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer introduced the item and then went through the main 
issues as detailed in the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The proposed minor works, which provide additional enhanced community 
facilities to the museum, are in compliance with Policy S26 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
Heritage 
 
The proposal constitutes a designated heritage asset. The proposed works 
would not harm the character or setting of the listed building in compliance with 
Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
The site of the proposed ground floor extension works would not adversely 
affect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers and debate followed relating to heritage 
and materials. 
 
Councillor Grainger moved the motion to approve the officer’s 
recommendations. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Armstrong. 

Page 10



 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve the officer’s recommendations, 11 
voted in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Planning permission granted as per officers recommendations. 
 
Conditions 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
5306 02B Proposed Block Plan 
5306 11 Proposed front extension 
5306 03A Existing and Proposed Elevations Sheet 2 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 
3. All planting, comprised within the landscaping scheme shall be carried 
out in the first planting season following completion of the development 
and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality. 
 

231. Development Panel - LBC/2019/0015 - Helena Thompson Museum, Park 
End Road, Workington - Listed building consent for alterations to 
building, front extension to create entrance porch and ramp and rear 
extension  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended granting consent subject to conditions. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer introduced the item and then went through the main 
issues as detailed in the report. 
 
Impact on the significance of the listed building 

Page 11



 
The proposed extension works would preserve the architectural and historical 
qualities of the asset. 
 
It was highlighted to members that the grant of listed building consent would be 
subject to the prior consent of the Secretary of State. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor Armstrong moved the motion to approve the officer’s 
recommendations. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Grainger. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve the officer’s recommendations, 11 
voted in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Listed Building consent granted per officers recommendations, subject to 
consent from the Secretary of State. 
 
Conditions 
 
1. The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this consent. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
2. The works hereby consented shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans: 
 
5306 02B Proposed Block Plan 
5306 03 A Existing and Proposed Elevations 
Amended Dwg 5306-11 Proposed Front Extension 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the works are carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans to ensure the harm is less than substantial 
and outweighed by the public benefits.  
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 2.55 pm 
 

Page 12



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2019/0206 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2019/0206 

Valid Date: 16/09/2019 

Location: Mardale William Street Wigton 

Applicant: Mrs M Hall  

Proposal: Erection of single storey dwelling 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

 

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The development is considered to bring 
benefits of providing one smaller dwelling 
in close proximity to Wigton’s services and 
facilities and designed as such that it can 
function in conjunction with the larger 
dwelling currently under construction 
alongside. The adverse impacts 
associated with the development are minor 
and certainly do not outweigh the benefits. 
 

Locational Sustainability  The site is within 350m of the defined town 
centre and the services and facilities that it 
provides e.g. the remaining bank, building 
society, shops and Wigton Group Medical 
Practice (South End); within 400m of 
Wigton Infant School via the Crofts; within 
400m of the Nelson Thomlinson School; 
within 500m of bus stops served by 
services to Carlisle and Whitehaven (300), 
to Cockermouth (600) and Keswick (554) 
and 1km of the railway station.  
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Flood Risk  The site is within Flood Zone 3a1 which is 
land at the highest probability of flooding 
outside of the functional flood plain. 
However, officers are content that, 
sequentially, there is no land available and 
suitable for the development proposed 
with lesser probability of flooding. Officers 
are also content that the proposed 
development provides wider sustainability 
benefits to the community. It has also been 
demonstrated that the proposed 
development will remain safe over its 
lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.  

 

Heritage  The harm arising from the development is 
less than substantial in terms of the impact 
on the character and appearance of the 
Wigton Conservation Area. The harm is 
outweighed by the public benefits derived 
from providing this small dwelling and its 
contribution to maintaining the overall 
viability and vitality of the nearby town 
centre and responding to the need for 
dwellings of this scale and single storey 
design in the Borough.  

The character and appearance of Wigton 
Conservation Area will be preserved. 

Highway safety and access  It is clear that the County Highways 
Authority’s advised visibility splays cannot 
be achieved at the point of access. 
However, it is considered that the context 
of the bend in the road directly to the south 
of the site, limited development to the 
south on this no-though road and width 
mean that, in reality, speeds are 
significantly lower than the mandatory 
maximum 30 mph. As the proposal is for 
just one dwelling the access arrangements 
are considered acceptable. 

  
 

                                                 
1 As defined by the Environment Agency. Table 1 in Paragraph: 065 Reference ID: 7-065-20140306  of 
the NPPG accessed 29/11/19 provides a definition of Flood Zones https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-
risk-and-coastal-change#Table-1-Flood-Zones 
 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#Table-1-Flood-Zones
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#Table-1-Flood-Zones


2.0 Proposal 
 

2.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission to erect a new single storey dwelling 
within the garden of Mardale. 
 

2.2 The dwelling is proposed to be single storey with an open plan kitchen and living 
room, bathroom and 3 bedrooms. The design is modern and contemporary. Of 
note are the vertically boarded grey larch cladding, sedum green roof and grey 
aluminium windows. 

  
2.3 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 

DWG 17-104-40 Rev B - Existing, Block, Location (amendment received 18 
October 2019) 
DWG 17-104-41 Rev B - Proposed Plans (amendment received 18 October 
2019) 
DWG 17-104-42 - General Plan and details (amendment received 18 October 
2019) 
Design Heritage Statement received 18 October 2019 
Flood Risk Assessment dated 12 July 2019 
Sequentional and Exception Tests (Flood Risk) 
Daytime Roost Inspection Survey and Activity Surveys for Bats 
Addendum to Scoping Survey Report Dated 3 September 2019 
Tree Report October 2019 Version 3 received 18 October 2019 
 

2.4 The applicant has provided details of a specific need for the dwelling so that 
family members in need of care can live alongside the family home. 

 
 
3.0 Site 

 
3.1 The proposal site lies within the settlement of Wigton and forms part of the 

Conservation Area. The site is bordered by residential properties on all sides, 
modern bungalows to the south, a 2 storey red brick dwelling to the west, a 
terrace of 3 properties set back from the road directly opposite and terraced 
properties to the north.    
 

3.2 The site is within the domestic curtilage of Mardale, a two storey dwelling 
currently under construction that replaced a post war dwelling previously 
occupying the land. The proposed dwelling would sit in what is currently the side 
garden to the south of Mardale. The garden houses a number of outbuildings and 
a detached single storey garage close to the south boundary of the site, marked 
by a small beck. There are a number of trees within the garden. 

 
3.3 The site lies within Flood Zone 3a. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 15



4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 

4.1 The following are relevant:- 
 

a) CAT/2019/0013 Removal of Rowan tree and hawthorn tree – Works 
Granted. 
 

b) 2/2017/0549 Demolition of existing building and erection of one new 
dwelling – Approved and under construction. 
 

c) 2/2014/0871 Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of single storey 
dwelling – Approved. 
 

d) CAT/2014/0018 Section 211 Tree Works Application for the removal of 14 
trees on site – Approved. 
 

e) 2/2013/0828 replacement dwelling and erection of 2 additional dwellings – 
Withdrawn. 

 
 
5.0 Representations 
 

Town Council 
 
5.1 No objections. 
 

ABC Environmental Health 
 
5.2 No objections to the proposed development. 
 

Cumbria County Highways 
 

08.11.19 
 

5.3 The Highways Authority would not support the application in its current form, 
however, if you are minded to approve the application we would recommend a 
condition is attached that restricts vehicular access to or egress from the site 
other than via the proposed access.  
 
02.10.2019 
 

5.4 Presuming that the trees to the southern boundary of the site will be cut down 
and maintained at a height of 1m, the applicant will need to submit a plan that 
they can achieve 60m visibility splays in both directions with the inclusion of 
visibility round a bend. With this being a 30mph speed zone the splays, to meet 
criteria, need to be 60m in both direction back by 2.4m at a height of 1m above 
the carriageway. Drivers need to be able to see obstructions 2m down to a point 
600mm above the carriageway. The latter dimension is used to ensure small 
children can be seen. Within the visibility splay or sight line envelope there 
should be no obstructions to vision such as walls or vegetation etc. within the 

Page 16



vertical profile. If any obstructions need to be reduced or removed within the 
visibility splay, it should be within the applicant’s ownership. If these splays 
cannot be achieved, we would strongly recommend a speed survey is carried 
out. 
 

5.5 Once a plan showing appropriate visibility splays or the results from a 7 day 
speed survey have been submitted, we will be better placed to make my final 
response. 

 
County Lead Local Flood Authority 

 
5.6 The applicant should note that there is a sealed main river running to the south of 

the site. They will need to consult the Environment Agency for information should 
they propose to do any works to it. 

 
5.7 The Environment Agency (EA) surface water maps indicate that the site is in 

flood zone 3. The applicant should consult with the Environment Agency 
regarding a flood risk assessment. 
 
Environment Agency 
 

5.8 The planning application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
prepared by Kingmoor Consulting; dated 12/7/19. We have reviewed the FRA in 
so far as it relates to our remit and we are satisfied that the development would 
be safe without exacerbating flood risk elsewhere if the proposed flood risk 
mitigation measures are implemented. The proposed development must proceed 
in strict accordance with this FRA and the mitigation measures identified as it will 
form part of any subsequent planning approval. Any proposed changes to the 
approved FRA and / or the mitigation measures identified will require the 
submission of a revised FRA. 
 

5.9 The applicant should be satisfied that the impact of any flooding would not 
adversely affect their proposals as only minimal freeboard has been applied to 
the design flood level. 
 
United Utilities 
 

5.10 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a 
separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water 
draining in the most sustainable way. 
 
Fire Officer 
 

5.11 No reply to date. 
 
Cumbria Wildlife Trust 
 

5.12 No reply to date. 
 

Page 17



 Other representations  
 
5.13 The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 

letter.  
 

5.14 A letter of support has been received by Social Services. They advise that Mr 
and Mrs Hall currently live together and Mrs Hall is sole carer for her husband 
who requires a high level of care and support. The letter identifies that, due to the 
high level of need Mr Hall requires, there is also a need for a contingency plan in 
place if Mrs Hall is unable to care for her husband. At present the option would 
be to find an emergency respite placement within a care home setting which can 
be distressing for family and Mr Hall due to a change in his care routine. If Mr and 
Mrs Hall lived beside their daughter (at Mardale) she would be able to support 
them in an emergency.  

 
5.15 59 letters of support have been received:- 
 

a) It is considered the proposal is genuinely trying to improve the quality of 
life of the applicant’s elderly parents, and will have a hugely positive 
impact on several people while negatively affecting no one. 

b)  There is plenty of space for the small development on the plot. 
c) The area around has housing that is a mix of designs and styles.  
d) The Mardale site currently under construction will enhance the local 

surroundings and the proposed bungalow will fit in with this new build. 
e) The proposed dwelling has been designed to be both ecological and 

sustainable. 
 

5.16 5 letters of objection have been received. 
 

a) It is considered this is a way of applying for permission for multiple 
dwellings which has been denied at least twice previously.  
 

b) The creation of another vehicle access point will limit available parking 
spaces for residents of William Street which is already a very heavily 
congested area with parked vehicles. When the plans for the 2017 
application were passed, it was specified by condition that the existing 
entrance needed to be blocked when the property become inhabited. 
 

c) Concern is raised with regards to potential flooding. The fire service have 
been called twice in recent years to attend to the flooded beck. In October 
the Environment Agency warned residents of a flood risk. 

 

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not within Schedule 1 nor 
2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 

Page 18



7.0 Duties 
 

7.1 The site falls within the designated Wigton Conservation Area. 
 
7.2 Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any 

buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area. 

 
 

8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 
 
8.1 The site is within the saved settlement for Wigton.  
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.2 The following policies are considered relevant:- 

 
S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S2 - Sustainable development principles 
S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 - Design principles 
S5 - Development Principles  
S6d - Wigton  
S24 – Green Infrastructure  
S27 – Heritage Issues 
S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

 
8.3 Policy S3 defines Wigton as a Key Service Centre with the town expected to take 

10% of the 5,471 net additional dwellings planned for Allerdale (outside of the 
National Park) over the Plan period of 2011 to 2031.  

 
 
9.0 Other material considerations 
 

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft 2018 
 
9.1 The site is within the settlement limits for Wigton. 
 
9.2 The site is also designated as a green infrastructure corridor and, as such, policy 

SA52 applies. It advises that the Council may require the creation of new and 
enhancement of existing green infrastructure within the site and incorporate 
wildlife linkages where it would produce clear environmental and social benefits 
without significantly impacting on economic viability.  

Page 19



 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 

 
9.3 Paragraphs, 11, 212 and 213 are relevant and members are asked to refer to eth 

weighting section below.   
 

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
 
9.4 The NPPG is a live, on-line tool that is complementary to the NPPF. In effect it 

provides more detailed guidance for practitioners on the application of the NPPF. 
It is particularly relevant to this application with the application of the Sequential 
and Exceptions Tests with regards to flood risk. 

 
 Allerdale Council Plan 2019-2023 

9.5 Tackling inequality - Helping to create more affordable housing where it is 
needed most across the Borough, for example through Community Land Trusts 
or using our own assets or land, and bringing empty properties into affordable 
ownership. 

9.6 Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of more homes where 
they are needed by looking for opportunities to develop key worker housing for 
the health and nuclear sectors; and aspirational housing where appropriate in 
line with our Local Plan. 

 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Notwithstanding the duty under section 72 of the Listed Buildings Act, section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that 
the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

10.2 However, paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2019 advises that the policies in that Framework are material considerations 
which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its 
publication. In this context it is noted that paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2019 
advises that due weight should be given to development plan policies according 
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

10.3 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF also advises that, where the development plan 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
permission should be granted permission unless: 

Page 20



i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing 
the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably  outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole (the tilted balance). 

10.4 In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies 
within Flood Zone 3a and is within a Conservation Area. For these reasons, 
policies within the NPPF relating to the consideration of these assets are 
relevant.  

10.5 A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton 
(PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting 
afforded to development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of 
the former NPPF. In brief, as a result of this appeal decision, it is accepted that 
development needs to come forward beyond settlement limits during this mid-
term of the Local Plan’s period to meet the trajectories detailed in Appendix 3 of 
the Plan. This is because, by this time, significant delivery was assumed to be 
derived from Part 2 allocations. This has not been the case, hence windfalls 
beyond settlement limits are necessary, there not being land inside the limits to 
come forward as windfalls to meet the trajectories. As such policies S3 and S5 
are out of date in relation to the settlement limits and are only afforded limited 
weight and paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. 

10.6 Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they 
are not considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other 
Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial 
or full weight where they are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In 
this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be 
afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the sustainability principles 
of the NPPF 2019.  

 
10.7 Finally, weight can also be afforded to emerging plans, that weight dependent on 

the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and consistency 
with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. Draft Part 2 of the Local Plan has now 
been submitted to the Secretary of State for public examination by an Inspector. 
We await the Inspector’s report following the Examination Sessions and the 
expiration of the modifications’ consultation period. The plan is therefore at an 
advanced stage of preparation and is also considered to be consistent with the 
NPPF. However, both the settlement limits and the green infrastructure 
designation and associated policy SA52 are subject to unresolved objections the 
nature of which means that only low weight can be afforded to them at this 
juncture.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



11.0 Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1 Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) sets out the framework for 

development across the area. Wigton is identified as a Key Service Centre in the 
settlement hierarchy with 10% of the overall growth being planned for the town. 
This proposal would constitute an, albeit very small proportion of this growth. 
Subject to certain criteria, policy S5 indicates that new development will be 
concentrated within the physical limits of such locations, providing that the scale 
of the development proposed is commensurate to the size of the settlement and 
reflects its position within the hierarchy overall.  

 
11.2 As has already been clarified in the weighting section of this report, we remain in 

a phase whereby paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. The Council must 
therefore consider whether the tilted balance applies (criterion ii of paragraph 11) 
or if the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed (criterion i). These areas or assets include designated conservation 
areas and areas at flood risk. It is these considerations that are examined first to 
establish which criterion of paragraph 11 of the NPPF is applicable.  

 
 Heritage and Design 
 
11.3 The Listed Buildings Act 1990 requires that local planning authorities shall, from 

time to time, determine which parts of their area are areas of special architectural 
or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance, and shall designate those areas as conservation areas. 
Wigton Conservation Area was designated in 1977. There is no adopted 
Appraisal for the Area and it extends across much of the townscape covering 
buildings and spaces of differing character, appearance and ages. The use and 
feel of the area differs greatly from space to space, from the hustle and bustle of 
the town centre around the Fountain to the quieter, leafy suburbs such as William 
Street in the vicinity of the site. This is not to say William Street does not 
contribute to the overall significance of the Conservation Area but it does mean 
that change here will not result in substantial harm to the character and 
appearance of the whole area.  

 
11.4 The immediate context to the site is, as already inferred above, of a quiet 

residential area where the dwellings are complemented by natural landscaping. It 
is a peaceful and relatively intimate setting, the intimacy reinforced by the 
relatively narrow street, the termination of the view southwards by the bend 
leading to the Crofts and the closeness of the buildings’ facades to the highway.  

 
11.5 There is an eclectic mix of dwellings both traditional and more modern, the most 

recent addition being the replacement dwelling at Mardale. This mix provides the 
potential for a number of architectural styles and designs to be introduced whilst 
still preserving the character and appearance of the area. What is important is 
the need to ensure the appropriate balance of the natural and built environment 
and for the building to not over dominate in this intimate setting. It is also 

Page 22



considered that the building should be of its age; that is not to say it should be 
incongruous but rather that it be modern but also respectful of the scale and 
forms of the existing grain.  

 
11.6 It is considered that the proposed dwelling achieves all of these attributes. The 

design carefully respects the balance between the natural and built environment 
through the use of the sedum roof and the cladding. The tones are muted and 
the scale is modest. What is necessary is to ensure that this development is not 
diluted harmfully over time with alterations and extensions that, even in a 
conservation area, would currently be permitted development. As such it is 
considered necessary to impose a condition restricting permitted development 
rights.  

 
11.7 The harm arising from the development is less than substantial in terms of the 

impact on the character and appearance of the Wigton Conservation Area. The 
harm is outweighed by the public benefits derived from providing this small 
dwelling and its contribution to maintaining the overall viability and vitality of the 
nearby town centre and responding to the need for dwellings of this scale and 
single storey design in the Borough. Further public benefits are detailed in 
paragraph 11.16 of this report. 
The character and appearance of Wigton Conservation Area will be preserved. 

 
Flood risk/drainage 

11.8 Table 1 of the NPPG1  defines land zones dependant on their flooding probability 
from rivers and sea. In this instance the Environment Agency has defined the site 
as falling within Flood Zone 3a which is land at the highest probability of flooding 
outside of the functional flood plain i.e. land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual 
probability of river flooding. Table 22 of the NPPG defines dwellings as a More 
Vulnerable use. Cross referencing these definitions in Table 3 reveals that the 
principle of the development could be acceptable if both the Sequential and 
Exceptions tests (both defined in the NPPF) are passed. In doing so the 
development will also accord with policy S29 of Local Plan insofar as it relates to 
flood risk. 

11.9 The sequential test is there to ensure development is directed to areas at lower 
probability of flooding where possible i.e. flood zone 1. The default area of search 
is usually the Borough although it can be smaller if considered appropriate. This 
proposal is such an instance where substantial weight is afforded to the particular 
needs and characteristics of the development proposed. These are detailed in 
the application particulars and are not repeated in detail here but, in brief, officers 
accept the desire if not need for a small, single storey dwelling to be adjacent to 
the larger family dwelling to provide that close element of care whilst also 
maintaining the independence of the cared for.  

11.10 Officers consider that the benefits of the proposal are not confined to just the 
personal applicant’s circumstances (although this is afforded weight as a 

                                                 
2 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#Table-2-Flood-Risk-Vulnerability-Classification 

 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#Table-2-Flood-Risk-Vulnerability-Classification


consideration) but also generically there is benefit to providing the smaller 
dwelling within an area that contains larger dwellings and is close to the town 
centre and other services and facilities. As such the dwelling could be occupied 
by people wishing to stay in the town and be close to other family members and 
the town’s services and facilities. 

11.11 In this context the applicant was asked to undertake a sequential assessment of 
sites, examining those sites at lesser probability of flooding that are appropriate 
and available within Wigton close to a family home and town centre. They 
focused on the need to not just be close community facilities e.g. bank, post 
office etc. but also communal groups and societies e.g. Wiza club, dementia club 
meetings at the Methodist Church etc. and elderly neighbourhood homes e.g. to 
visit friends in this accommodation. This is a reasonable and appropriate 
approach to adopt. 

11.12 The search included examination of draft allocations in the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 2), sites identified in the Borough’s five year housing supply document 
(which includes permitted sites) and examination of local estate agents’ property 
sales. Officers consider the pragmatic approach adopted was robust and 
exhaustive and concur with the conclusions that there are no sites meeting the 
criteria that are both appropriate and reasonably available. The sequential test is 
therefore passed. 

11.13 Turning to the Exceptions Test, there are two criteria that need to be met3:- 

(a) The development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the 
community that outweigh the flood risk; and 

(b) The development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability 
of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will 
reduce flood risk overall. 

11.14 The NPPG’s advice in relation to the application of the first criteria (a) of the 
Exceptions Test states:- 

“Local planning authorities will need to consider what criteria they will use in this 
assessment, having regard to the objectives of their Local Plan’s Sustainability 
Appraisal framework…….If a planning application fails to score positively against 
the aims and objectives of the Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal or Local Plan 
policies, or other measures of sustainability, the local planning authority should 
consider whether the use of planning conditions and/or planning obligations 
could make it do so. Where this is not possible, the Exception Test has not been 
satisfied and planning permission should be refused.”4 

11.15 The Sustainability Appraisal for the Part 1 Local Plan details the social, 
environmental and economic strands of sustainability which are the criteria to 

                                                 
3 As set out by paragraph 160 of the NPPF. 
4 Paragraph: 037 Reference ID: 7-037-20140306 accessed 29th November 2019 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#The-Exception-Test-section 
 

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#The-Exception-Test-section


assess the overall sustainability of the proposal. As with the NPPF they are 
throughout the Plan and not just in one policy but S2 provides an overarching 
summary of the criteria to be met. Of note are:- 

 Providing decent homes that meet the needs of households now and in 
the future. 

 Promoting health, well-being and active lifestyle by protecting, maintaining 
and enhancing green infrastructure. 

 Promoting high standards of design that make a positive contribution to 
the local area and ensuring that, wherever possible, existing natural, 
historic and environment assets are enhanced and, in all circumstances, 
conserved. 

 Conserve and enhance the diversity and distinctiveness of towns and 
villages and landscape including the character and appearance and 
significance of heritage assets. 

 Minimising the need to travel, promote mixed use developments and 
increase opportunities to make journeys by foot, cycle or public transport.  

11.16 It is acknowledged that this is not an exhaustive list of the sustainability criteria 
in the Local Plan’s Sustainability Appraisal and/or the Local Plan. However, the 
proposal does not need to score positively against all of them, but rather be 
assessed as scoring positively overall. In this context, officers consider that 
there are wider sustainability benefits derived from the particularly high standard 
of design, this benchmark being met not only in terms of the visual flair and 
highly commendable fusion of high quality design and modernity but all the 
green credentials. Locking these qualities through conditions is required but, as 
a result, a development is realised which can become a tool for reference in 
terms of delivering quality elsewhere. This is where, in particular, the wider 
benefits are realised. These are also enhanced through the responses to need 
(a small single storey dwelling) and location (a sensitive but highly sustainable 
site close to the town centre). Again, these responses provide a template for 
solutions elsewhere. In summary the first criterion of the Exceptions Test is 
passed. 

11.17 The second criterion is also passed as the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) details 
how the development will ensure a neutral impact in terms of flooding elsewhere 
and that occupants of the proposed dwelling will be protected. The second 
criterion of the Exceptions Test is therefore passed. A caveat is that the 
development is implemented in accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment and 
the extent and levels of building (including hardstanding) specified in the plans. 
Changes to the extent of development could have an adverse effect on the 
ability of the site to respond to flooding. This could impact on future occupiers of 
the dwelling as well as neighbours. As such it is necessary to restrict permitted 
development rights to ensure there is future control over the extent of 
development including hardstanding.  

 

 

Page 25



 Applicability of the Tilted Balance  
 
11.18 It is clear, from the above assessments, that it is the tilted balance that would 

apply; there are no reasons as to why criterion (i) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 
would be engaged.  

 
11.19 The benefits of the proposal have already been detailed in this report and are 

considered to be afforded significant weight; the provision of 1 dwelling is 
afforded little weight itself but the response to the need and the high specification 
of the visual design and green credentials enhance that weight. 

 
11.20 However, there are other matters to consider when applying the tilted balance. 
 

 Locational sustainability 
 

11.21 The site is within 350m of the defined town centre and the services and facilities 
that it provides e.g. the remaining bank, building society, shops and Wigton 
Group Medical Practice (South End) It is also within 400m of Wigton Infant 
School via the Crofts; 400m of the Nelson Thomlinson School; within 500m of 
bus stops served by services to Carlisle and Whitehaven (300), to Cockermouth 
(600) and Keswick (554) and 1km of the railway station.  

11.22 Access to these services and facilities is via level segregated and lit footways 
with dropped kerbs at crossing points. It is accepted that there is likely to be little 
relevance to the proximity of the schools but, nevertheless, the fact they are in 
the vicinity means that the likely older occupants of the dwelling will see children 
on a daily basis which is positive in terms of mixed and balanced communities 
and the overall well-being of the occupants. 

Highways safety  
 
11.23 William Street is a relatively narrow road with in-line on street parking afforded on 

one side (normally the application site side). There is a bend immediately to the 
south where William Street leads onto the Crofts. This bend has limited visibility 
and certainly a splay of 60m, as advised by the County Highways Authority, is not 
possible. Indeed the achievable splay is much lower than this measuring at 
approximately 36m. There is also the possibility that vehicles will continue to park 
on this side of the road restricting visibility further.  

 
11.24 However, there are four relevant points which need to be part of the balance 

against the inability to meet the desired visibility splays:- 
 

a) The access would be shared with that of the new two storey dwelling at 
Mardale and the increase in traffic using the access derived from the 
bungalow is not considered to be significant. 

b) The sharing of the access result in no further loss of on-street car parking. 
c) The former vehicular access to Mardlale was much closer to the bed with 

a visibility splay of barely 10m. 
d) The highway is a no through road with light traffic and the officer observed, 

when the occasional vehicles were heading from the Crofts, that speeds 

Page 26



were noticeably lower than 30 mph, likely due to the bend and restricted 
road width. 

 
 11.25 The on-site arrangements provide an appropriate level of parking and 

manoeuvring space. 
 
11.26 The condition relating to the blocking of the existing access will need to be 

repeated.  
 
 Trees, ecology and green infrastructure  
 
11.27 As detailed in the weighting section of this report, the policy relating to the Green 

Infrastructure in Part 2 of the Local Plan is not afforded any great weight. 
However, this is not to say it isn’t a relevant consideration. Policy S24 in Part 1 is 
afforded full weight and the policy responds to its criteria by proposing a dwelling 
with a green roof, a modest footprint compared with the overall plot size and a 
comprehensive landscaping plan. 

 
11.28 The existing mix of trees within the site was assessed using the TEMPO 

methodology, the tree assessed for their quality and amenity value. None were 
considered worthy of a Tree Preservation Order either individually or collectively. 

 
11.29 A Protected Species Survey was undertaken as well as a specific Bat Survey, 

both undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist. The trees to be felled to make 
way for the dwelling and turning head were not found to be hosting roosting bats 
although they were present and roost within other trees on site (these other trees 
are protected by virtue of being in the conservation area). It is clear from the 
surveys that ecology is largely avoided and the green corridor will be maintained. 
There are conditions necessary though for some required mitigation.  

 
11.30 Weight has been afforded to the specification of the dwelling and landscaping as 

part of this assessment. In this regard it is considered necessary that the dwelling 
is built in accordance with the approved plans in terms of the limit of its footprint 
and the inclusion of features such as the green roof. A condition limiting the 
permitted development rights for alterations and extensions is considered 
necessary.  

 
 Residential amenity  
 
11.31 A distance of 24m is achieved between the proposed front elevation and the 

nearest dwelling on the opposite side of William Street (No.9). A greater distance 
of over 37m is achieved to the dwellings on Beech Croft at the rear. These 
distances and the single storey nature of the proposal will mean that there will be 
no significant loss of amenity in terms of overlooking, overshadowing or noise 
and disturbance to these existing occupiers.  

 
11.32 There is a consideration in relation to the vehicular access being shared with 

Mardale. It is acknowledged that the intention is that the new dwelling will be 
shared by a family relative but this is not necessarily going to be always the case. 
There is a balanced judgement to be made here; vehicular traffic accessing the 

Page 27



proposal would be manoeuvring directly in front of the replacement dwelling at 
Mardale, On balance, given the likely light traffic serving the proposal and that 
the rooms and garden at the rear of the Mardale dwelling are not disturbed by 
this manoeuvring, the proposal is considered acceptable. 

 
Local Financial Considerations 

 
11.33 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

 
 
12.0 Conclusions 

12.1 The benefits of the proposal are considered to outweigh the impacts which are 
not considered to be significant or demonstrable. The proposal is considered to 
be sustainable with significant merit and compliant with development plan 
policies.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

 

Page 28



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 

  Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
In Accordance: 
  
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance 

with the following plans: 
 

  (Amended) DWG 17-104-40 - REV B - Existing, Block, Location 
  (Amended) DWG 17-104-41 - REV B - Proposed Plans 
  (Amended) DWG 17-104-42 - REV AA - General Plan and Details 
  (Amended) TreereportV3 
  Flood Risk Assessment 
  Flood Sequential Test V2 
  Mardale PEA Survey Addendum Letter 03-09-2019 Final 
  William Street Scoping Survey 05-06-13 FINAL[2] 
  Bat Survey 05-06-13 FINAL[2] 
 

  Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered and to accord with policy S2 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2014 and the provisions of the NPPF 2019. 
 

Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3.     Prior to development commencing on site, a bat box shall be installed 

within a tree to be retained, the details of this location, height and 
specification of the bat box having previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, The box shall thereafter 
be retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 
Reason: This is necessary ecological mitigation in response to the development 
to accord with policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 
4. The landscaping shown on plan 2017-104-42 Rev AA , including the land 

levels changes shall be implemented prior to the dwelling hereby approved 
being first occupied. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To maintain the biodiversity value of the green corridor and preserve the 
character and appearance of this part of the Wigton Conservation Area to accord 
with policies S24 and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (2014) and the provisions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
5. The dwelling shall not be first occupied until the vehicular access, parking 

and manoeuvring areas shown on plan 2017-104-42 Rev AA have been 
completed. The said areas shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (2014) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

 
6. The existing access marked X on the approved plan 2017-104-42 Rev AA 

shall not be used as a vehicular access once the dwelling hereby approved is 
first occupied. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking 
or re-enacting that order relating to permitted development, no development 
falling within Schedule 2, Part 2 Class B of the said Order shall be carried out 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the only vehicular access to the site is that approved in the 
interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(2014) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 
Other:  
 
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
order relating to permitted development, no development falling within 
Schedule 2, Part 1 Classes A, B, C, D, E and F of the said Order shall be 
carried out without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  To maintain the green infrastructure corridor through the site, to preserve 
the character and appearance of the Wigton Conservation Area, to reflect the 
assumptions made in the approved Flood Risk Assessment and to accord with 
policies S24, S27 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (2014) and the provisions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

Page 30



 
 

 
 
 
 
8. Foul drainage shall be disposed of to the adopted Public Sewerage sytem. 
 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of pollution in accordance with policies S32 and S36 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan 2014. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



 

P
age 34



Allerdale Borough Council 

 
Planning Application FUL/2019/0210 

 
Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2019/0210 

Valid Date: 30/08/2019 

Location: Land at New Bridge Road Workington 

Applicant: c/o Rapleys LLP   

Proposal: Erection of a new discount foodstore with car parking, 
landscaping and other associated works. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The proposed retail store is considered to 
be a ‘town-centre’ use and as such the 
application is subject to a sequential 
assessment to discount other available 
sites within the town centre, plus a retail 
assessment to demonstrate any impact 
of the vitality and viability of the town 
centre. It has been robustly evidenced 
that there are no suitable, available sites 
in sequentially preferable locations to 
accommodate the development and the 
impact is acceptable,  
The proposal therefore complies with 
policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1. 

Design, visual amenity and landscape  The building is designed as a 
contemporary, generic store that meets 
the business model of the retail company.  
The building is sited centrally to the site 
to allow for the entrance access and 
parking area. The amount of parking is 
considered adequate and essential for 
this type of use at this location The scale 
and massing is considered appropriate 
and relates well to adjacent buildings 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



Sustainability of location and Highway 
safety 

The site is in a sustainable location. 

The access details for residual vehicular 
trips are acceptable.  

Ecology  A row of six TPO Swedish Whitebeam 
trees have been integrated into the layout 
of the scheme. Additional landscaping 
will enhance the appearance of the site 
and its biodiversity value in compliance 
with policies S33 and S35 of the Allerdale 
local plan (part 1)    

Heritage  As a result of the separation distance and 
intervening modern developments it is 
not considered the proposed 
development would harm the setting of 
the nearby listed buildings and 
Conservation Area heritage assets. The 
proposal complies with policy S27 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
 
 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal is for a 1900 m2 retail store (1004m2 convenience and 248m2 

comparison sales floor area, the remaining areas being ancillary storage etc.) on 
an area of undeveloped land on the southern side of the River Derwent abutting 
the eastern edge of the A597 highway. Convenience goods are items purchased 
for everyday living e.g. food, drinks, toiletries etc. Comparison goods are defined 
as those which consumers purchase relatively infrequently and so they usually 
evaluate prices, features and quality levels before making a purchase. The 
proposed occupier is Lidl and they have a standard format of an element of 
comparison goods within an aisle flanked and fronted by convenience goods. 
They intend to replicate this format at this site. 

 
2.2  The development is to be accessed by a new single vehicular entrance off the 

A597 which serves the proposed retail unit’s ancillary car park of 122 parking 
spaces, plus cycle stands. The access arrangements also incorporate a stub 
continuation of the access road providing the capacity and capability to serve 
additional development at the rear. However, members should note that this 
application does not include that land to the rear.  

 
2.3  The design of the store reflects the applicant’s standard store (similar to that 

implemented in Maryport and Cockermouth) with a contemporary mono-
pitched roof design and glazed/panelled elevations. 

 
2.4  The proposed development would generate 40 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs. 

Page 36



 
2.5 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 

 104B Site Access 

 07714-SPACE-00-GF-DR-A-01-0001-S3-P1 Ground Floor 

 07714-SPACE-00-RF-DR-A-02-0001-S3-P1 Roof 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-02-0001-S3-P1 Elevations 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-90-0001-S3-P4 Site Location Plan 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 Boundary Treatment 

 AIA TPP Rev C  Trees 

 AMS TPP Rev C Trees 

 Landscape Plan 

 Car park Lighting proposal 

 Car park Lighting Results 

 Ground Investigation report (July 2016) 

 Arboricultural Method Statement Rev C. 

 Dwg SK0001 Rev C Drainage Strategy Plan. 

 Ecological Impact Assessment.  

 Flood Risk and Drainage Impact Assessment. 

 Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Investigation and Risk Assessment. 

 Travel Plan 
 

3.0 Site 
 

3.1  The site extends to 1.3ha level area of undeveloped scrubland sited within the 
valley floor of the River Derwent in Workington. It is located in an area of 
mixed commercial and recreational land uses. 

 
3.2  A short line of six mature Swedish Whitebeam trees near the site’s frontage 

have been protected under a Tree Preservation Order. 
 

3.3 Tesco’s retail premises form the southern border of the site. With the exception of 
a narrow footpath corridor (England Coast Path), the natural feature of the River 
Derwent demarks the northern perimeter. The A597 acts as the western edge to 
the site within the Workington AFC stadium situated on the opposite side of the 
highway. 

 

3.4 St. Michael’s Conservation Area is located approximately 450m to the south. 
This area includes the Grade ll* listed buildings of St. Michael’s Church and St. 
Michael’s House and the Grade ll listed John Pirt’s engineering works.  
 
 

4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Planning permission was previously granted on the site for a public house 

/restaurant with associated living accommodation, car parking landscaping and 
new access (ref 2/2017/0255). The permission was varied under (ref 

Page 37

javascript:AppBlobImage('488407');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488409');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488410');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488414');


2/2017/0499) for changes to the level and siting of the building. This permission 
remains extant.  
 

4.2 A screening opinion was undertaken for the current proposal (ref 
SCR/2019/0005) as it constitutes Schedule 2 development under the provisions 
of the Environmental Impact Regulations 2017. It was determined that the 
proposal was not EIA development. 

 
4.3 An application FUL/2019/0018 for the demolition of the existing stadium and 

redevelopment of the site to provide a sports stadium (Use class D2) that 
incorporates a hospitality /conference suite (Class D1/D2), community facility 
(class D1), Café (class A3) and office space (Class B1a) and an outdoor sports 
pitch (class D2) with access, parking and landscaping on the opposite side of 
New Bridge Road is pending. 

 
 
5.0 Representations 

 
Workington Town Council  

 
5.1 Concerned by the outcome of sequential testing and disagree that it is the only 

viable site as they think other sites have potential, particularly Central Car Park, 
but it was accepted this would require some design output. There was also 
concern on the impact on traffic and the site is not conducive to pedestrian 
access and the traffic would be different to that of the public house which had 
been originally planned for the site. The Town Council had not opposed the 
former public house scheme because it was considered that it had the capacity to 
enhance the character of the area through its prominent position whereas the 
unimaginative design and nature of the proposed foodstore does not contribute 
at all. 

 
Cumbria County Highways Authority 

5.2 The amended layout’s inclusion of the continuation of the existing cycle/footway 
is welcomed and needs to be secured by condition. Advise no objections to the 
amendments subject to planning conditions and a contribution towards a scheme 
under consideration by the highway authority; Duke Street is presently a rat run 
for vehicles travelling to Station Road which is impacting on the safety of the 
street. It is accepted there is a previous approval for a smaller building on the 
site. Seek a £5k contribution under a s106 to account for the traffic generated by 
the development (to be used within a 5 year timescale). 
 
Cumbria County Rights of Way Officer  

 
5.3 Advise there are no public rights of way within the vicinity, but the England Coast 

Path does follows the River Derwent within the development area with the 
consequent need to consult Natural England. 

 
 

 

Page 38



Cumbria County Minerals and Waste  
 
5.4 No comments (the site is not within a safeguarding zone). 

 
Cumbria Constabulary  

 
5.5 It is evident that that the potential for crime and disorder have been accounted for 

in the proposed design and layout, with good levels of external lighting. 
Recommend doors on the north elevation meet specific standards. 

 
Highways England  

 
5.6 No objections. 
 

Northern Gas Network 
 
5.7 Initially objected to the proposal on the grounds of insufficient evidence to 

demonstrate safeguarding their existing gas pipeline near the eastern edge of the 
site. Following discussions and a range of mitigation measures including a 
concrete slab across the access driveway entrance to the site, they have 
withdrawn their objection. 
 
Coal Authority 
 

5.8 In assessing the applicant’s Geo Environmental Statement it is recommended a 
condition be added requiring site intrusive investigations prior to commencement 
of development. The coal mining addendum advises “there is a very low to 
negligible risk to the subject site from shallow workings “. The Coal Authority 
therefore has no objections. 

 
United Utilities 
 

5.9 Seek the surface water drainage to be undertaken in accordance with the 
national drainage hierarchy. Support the proposed surface water drainage details 
submitted with the applicant’s evidence. Seek any foul sewer connection to be to 
an adoptable standard. It is recommended that the drainage details and their 
future maintenance be reserved under planning conditions. 

 
Environment Agency 

 
5.10 Contamination – consider there is an unqualified risk of contamination which 

could be mobilised during construction to controlled waters (River Derwent). 
Seek conditions re contamination and a remediation strategy. Also refer to their 
own respective environmental permitting regime for works within 8m of a main 
river or 16m if tidal. They confirm the site is within Flood Zone 1 with the need to 
evaluate finished floor levels. They also refer to the foul water discharge and the 
option to utilise the sewer in the area, which would require the consent of United 
Utilities. 
 
 

Page 39



ABC Environmental Health 
 

5.11 Accept the noise assessment and Geo Environmental Assessment 
recommendations. 

 
Natural England 

 
5.12 Question the foul drainage as any package treatment plant will require a permit. 

Also seek a condition for a Construction Environment Management Plan. The 
habitat creation would contribute to net gain and demonstrate the Council’s 
biodiversity duty. Also recommend the mitigation and enhancement criteria of 
section 4 and 5 of the applicant’s Ecological Impact Assessment. 

 
 Other representations  

 
5.13 The application was advertised on site and in the press. One letter of objection 

was received on the grounds of: 
 

a) The application is a retail development at an out of town location which 

would impact on Workington town centre. 

b) Reference to the other additional proposed retail development at Derwent 

Howe Retail Park and the recent approval of a variation of condition 

application at Derwent Drive Retail Park. 

c) The impact on the town centre from the proposed Derwent Howe retail 

park development alone is 7.9% at 2023 which the Council’s peer 

assessment does not feel would be significant, but the objector considers 

there needs to be a cumulative assessment. 

d) The Council’s former retail health check study referred to the strengths of 

the town centre but also identified its weaknesses including its limited 

convenience retail offer, the quality of its built environment and prominent 

vacant units. The cumulative effect of additional retail provision drawing 

people away from the town centre and its associated linked trips will have 

an impact on the town centre. 

e) The applicant’s case that it complies with emerging policy is premature as 

it remains at an examination stage and that only moderate weight could be 

attached to this policy i.e. the proposal needs to be evaluated under Policy 

S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). 

f) Lidl’s trading philosophies as a deep discounter forms the basis of their 

appraisal’s sales density figures as they differ from those of other 

supermarkets with a limited core range of their own exclusive labels. 

However, there is a trend towards it being a traditional supermarket. 

Consider the proposal as open retail rather than a specialised retailer and, 

therefore, a sensitivity test is required using other retail densities to 

indicate the extent of any impact on other centres which are protected 

under planning policy i.e. the reference to “discount is misleading” which 

could not be controlled and is therefore undistinguishable from any other 

non-discount retailer.   

 

Page 40



The objector therefore concludes parts of the retail assessment should be 

reappraised. 

 

5.14 A letter of support was received because it is considered the other discount 
supermarket in Workington, Aldi, is too small for the population of the town. It 
would also reduce Workington residents travelling to the Lidl in Maryport  

 

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1  With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environment Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development falls into Schedule 2 and, 

following Screening, is not considered to be EIA development. 

 

7.0 Duties 
 

7.1 The development does affect the setting of some listed buildings in the locality of 
the site. 

 
7.2 Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, in considering whether 

to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 

 
7.3 The site is not located within a designated conservation area but could affect the 

wider setting of the St. Michael’s Conservation Area which is located to the south 
of the proposed site. 

 
7.4  Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    

 
7.5 The site is within the Impact Risk Zone of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite 

Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (A Natura 2000 designation). However, 
the proposal is not the type of development that requires screening under the 
Habitat Regulations 1994. 
 

8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

8.1 The site is within the saved settlement limits but it is not designated with any 
protection or allocated for any specific use.  

Page 41



Allerdale Local Plan (2014) Part 1 

8.2 The following policies apply:- 

S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S2 Sustainable development principles 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 Design principles 
S5 Development Principles 
S6a Workington  
S16 Town centres and retail 
S27 Heritage Assets  
S29 Flood Risk and Surfec water Drainage 

S30 Reuse of land  

S32 Safeguarding amenity  

S33 Landscaping 

S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

DM7 Town centre development 

DM8-  Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
DM14–Standards of good design 
DM16 - Sequential test for previously developed land. 
DM17-Trees hedgerows and woodland 

 

9.0 Other material considerations 

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft 

9.1 The site is within the saved settlement limits but it is not designated with any 

protection or allocated for any specific use.  

9.2 The following policies apply:- 

SA46 – Retail and Town Centres 
SA47 – Central Car Park 
SA48 – Royal British Legion 
SA49 – Lower Derwent Valley 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 

9.3 Section 7 of the NPPF is titled ‘Ensuring the vitality of town centres’. Paragraph 
85 states that planning policies and decisions should support the role that town 
centres play at the heart of local communities 
 

9.4 Paragraph 80 advises that planning policies and decisions should help create the 
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, 
taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for 
development. 
 

Page 42



9.5 Paragraph 86 states that local planning authorities should apply a sequential test 
to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an 
existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main town centre uses 
should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations and only if 
suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available within a 
reasonable period) should out of centre sites be considered. 
 

9.6 Paragraph 87 says that, when considering edge-of-centre and out-of-centre 
proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites that are well connected 
to the town centre.  Applicants and local planning authorities are urged to 
demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale. 

 
9.7 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF states that, where an application fails to satisfy the 

sequential test or is likely to have significant adverse impacts in terms of the 
considerations set out at paragraph 89, then planning permission should be 
refused. 

 
Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2019-2023 

9.8 “We will support growth in the volume and range of jobs on offer through high 
quality business support activity, using our Local Plan to support sustainable 
growth, and investing in creating and growing local businesses through initiatives 
such as the Allerdale Loans Fund. Through our Regeneration and Investment 
Programme we will deliver ambitious projects such as the new stadium for 
Workington, providing a fantastic sporting and community facility as well as 
supporting local businesses by making the place more attractive to investors.” 

 
9.9 “We will work hard with our partners to create the right conditions for growth 

including activity to improve connectivity and infrastructure across our area. This 
means road and rail infrastructure, but also broadband and business 
accommodation. We will look for opportunities to create and improve business 
accommodation so that there are quality places for enterprise and business to 
thrive. 

 
9.10 “We will continue to play our part as an employer by paying the Foundation 

Living Wage to our staff and encourage others to do the same including our 
major contractors. We want to increase the amount we spend with local 
businesses so will be buying more goods and services locally where we can.” 

 
9.11 “All of the activity set out above will help to attract new businesses to our area. 

We will also continue to put energy into promoting the area as a great place to do 
business to help create more varied work opportunities and make our local 
economy less reliant on a small number of business types.” 

 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Notwithstanding the duties detailed above, section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 

Page 43



planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy. 

 
10.2 A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of 

the revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan 
policies can vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework 
(the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
10.3 The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and 

therefore full weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered 
consistent with the revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to 
remain consistent. In this instance, the relevant policies are afforded full weight. 

 
10.4 Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to 

emerging plans according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there 
are unresolved objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. 
The Inspector’s report is due by the end of this year.  

 

 

11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1 Workington is identified as the Principal Centre in the settlement hierarchy under 

Policy S3 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan (2014) and should therefore be the 
focus for major new development. This position, and the town’s vitality and 
viability, is to be protected under Policies S2 and S6a. Subject to certain criteria, 
policy S5 indicates that new development will be concentrated within the physical 
limits of such centres, providing that the scale of the development proposed is 
commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflects its position within the 
hierarchy. Where available, and if appropriate, the Council will also encourage 
and prioritise the effective reuse of previously used land and buildings or vacant 
and underused land, as identified by Policy S30.  

 
11.2 Policy S16 advises that the Council will promote the vitality and viability of town 

centres within the Plan Area by encouraging a diverse mix of uses in high quality 
environments which attract a wide range of people at different times of the day, 
and which are safe and accessible to all.  

 
11.3 Policy DM8 advises that proposals for main town centre uses will be approved 

within the town centre boundaries. Applications for these uses, or extensions of 
existing uses outside of the defined centres will be refused where the applicant 
has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection 
as set out in national policy. 

 

Page 44



11.4 Re-development of this site for the scale of development proposed is considered 
to be commensurate to the size of the settlement and the role of Workington as 
the Principal Centre within the hierarchy, in accordance with Policy S5. The use 
of this site is therefore in accordance with policies S5 and S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan. 

 
11.5   The current proposal is for a retail store including a mix of both convenience and 

comparison goods. The applicant’s supporting planning and retail statement 
outlines the background to the applicant company highlighting that they 
constitute a “Limited Assortment Discounter” store selling a limited range of their 
own brand products. This type of store has been accepted in previous appeals as 
being distinctly different from main retailers. 

 
11.6 Whether the impact of the proposed retail store either individually or cumulatively 

is considered to be appropriate for Workington in terms of protecting the vitality 
and viability of the town centre will be assessed below. 

 

Sequential Test for town centre uses – context  
 
11.7 Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres and 

to be of a scale commensurate to the settlement’s role and function, so as to not 
undermine the settlement hierarchy. Further, Policy S16 requires that proposals 
for main town centre uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the 
applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site 
selection, or where there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a 
significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.  Policy 
DM8 stipulates a threshold of 500m2 for Workington for retail development 
requiring an impact assessment.  

 
11.8 The application site does not lie within or adjacent to Workington town centre, but 

remains within the urban area and therefore falls to be assessed as an ‘out of 
centre’ site for the purposes of section 2 of the NPPF and policies S16 and DM8 
of the Allerdale Local Plan.  

 
11.9 The application is supported by a sequential assessment of other sites within 

Workington. The applicant considered that there were no sites within or on the 
edge of the town centre that would be available, suitable or viable to 
accommodate the quantum of the proposed development. Vacant units within the 
town centre were considered to be too small for the proposed development. 

 
11.10 Specific alternative sites were considered by the applicant and reasoning 

provided for dismissing them. This reasoning was not only tested by Council 
officers but also peer reviewed by a suitably qualified, independent specialist 
instructed by the Council. It is accepted that there were no more than three sites 
that are currently available with the potential to be suitable. These are considered 
individually in paragraphs 11.11 to 11.15 below.  

 
 
 
 

Page 45



 Sequential assessment – Central Car Park 
 
11.11 The first site identified as available in the town centre was the Central Station Car 

Park (allocated site in part 2 Local Plan - Policy SA47). This site is owned by 
Allerdale Borough Council. The applicant contends that the site is insufficient in 
size to accommodate the scale and form of the development at 0.89ha. They 
also contend that the site is also unsuitable given the lack of prominence and 
visibility and sensitive residential properties. Furthermore, they suggest, the 
development of the site would result in significant loss of town centre parking 
which could discourage people from shopping in the shopping centre.  

 
11.12 The peer review undertaken on behalf of the Council disagreed with the 

applicant’s reasoning concluding that the site is both suitable and available for 
development of a retail unit for convenience goods. It is comparable in size to the 
application site and would accommodate the applicant’s store with no 
modification, merely requiring a revised parking layout. Any impact on 
neighbouring properties could be addressed via its design and the applicant’s 
contention that the site lacks prominence and visibility are disputed and can be 
resolved through signage. It would be a freestanding destination attracting single 
shopping trips linked to those for the town centre.  

 
11.13 Nevertheless, it is noted that the format of the applicant’s business includes the 

sale of alcohol and the Central Car Park site is subject to a covenant restricting 
the sale of such goods. In this context it is considered that there would be an 
unreasonable degree of flexibility required for the applicant to drop the sale of 
alcohol from their business format and the presence of the covenant is a material 
consideration. As such the Central Car Park is not considered suitable.  

  
 Sequential assessment – Royal British Legion  
 
11.14 The Royal British Legion is also a town centre location (allocated site in Part 2 

Local Plan - Policy SA48). At 0.2ha this site is currently unsuitable in its size to 
meet the operator’s minimum requirements. It is also in active use and has not 
been marketed and is therefore not reasonably available. 

 
 The Cloffocks (Lower Derwent Valley)   
 
11.15 This site is allocated for sports and recreational use and it is accepted that that a 

retail use would not be suitable. It is also mainly outside of the defined centre for 
Workington with a small section being considered as edge of centre. The peer 
review undertaken on behalf of the Council agrees with the applicant’s reasoning. 
 
Retail impact Assessment  
 

11.16 In addition to the sequential test, the impact assessment is required as the 
proposal is over 500m2. For the purposes of the applicant’s retail assessment, a 
10 minute drive time threshold was applied to identify the core catchment area. It 
assessed the impact of the store on existing committed and planned public and 
private investment in the catchment area. The peer reviewer found that this was 
a reasonable approach to adopt. 

Page 46



 
11.17 The assessment was aware of other applications which are pending i.e. Derwent 

Retail Park (ref 2/2018/0595) and the variations to land in that same location (ref 
VAR/2019/0008).  

 
11.18  In this context, it is noted that a health check of Workington’s town centre 

indicates below UK national average vacancy levels with a good mix of 
independent businesses. It also benefits from good accessibility with a high 
quality shopping environment. It is therefore considered the town centre is in a 
good state of health. A sensitivity test has been undertaken, especially as the 
other pending proposals are speculative without detailed knowledge of the future 
occupiers.  

 
11.19 The application proposal’s anticipated turnover is £9.7m within the catchment’s 

available turnover of £59m. It estimates the turnover in 2024 will equate to £10m 
or 14% of the total available expenditure.  The assessment considered the £2.4m 
comparison goods turnover of the proposed store would have a minimal impact 
on the town centre as the store is not a comparison destination and that all its 
trade may not be solely from the catchment area (with an inflow allowance of 
10% given the connectivity of the site by major roads). This assumption is 
considered robust by the peer reviewer with an estimated turnover of £10.082 
million in 2024. 

 
11.20 The proposal’s trade impact on town centre convenience retailers would be: 
 

£0.1m (1.1%) Iceland  
£0.09 (0.9%) M&S 

 
The impact on other local shops is estimated to be between 0.2 and 0.4% with 
the overall, cumulative convenience impact being 2.58%.  

 
11.21 The Assessment estimates that the overall cumulative impact with other 

developments in the pipeline is 4.52% although there is an element of caution 
due to the speculative aspect of the other developments. The peer review 
considered that, although in their experience, the figure is low, they do 
acknowledge that there is limited convenience provision within the town centre 
and the greater forecast trade diversions will be from other out of town stores 
where their scale, proximity and product overlap:-  
 

£2.64m -26.2% of the proposed store from Tesco 
£2.7m 26.8% Asda 
£2.17m 21.6% Morrison’s  
£1.23m 12.3% Aldi 

 
11.22 Indeed, the peer reviewer advises that the Allerdale Retail Study 2015 also 

identified that convenience shopping patterns were dominated by the main out of 
town supermarkets whereas Workington’s town centre acted as the main centre 
of comparison goods, although a proportion of trade was directed to outside 
destinations e.g. Carlisle. The Study also found that the town centre had a 
moderate level of vitality and viability, with its comparison goods offer and 

Page 47



accessibility being particular strengths, but it also had a number of weaknesses, 
including the quality and range of its convenience retail offer, the quality of its 
built environment and some prominent vacant units. The Study noted that, at the 
time of its preparation, there was capacity for 1,720m2 of convenience retail 
floorspace and 8,460m2 of comparison retail floorspace in the period to 2029.  

 
11.23  In respect of qualitative impacts the applicant refers to an appeal case which the 

inspector states whether there is a significant effect is subjective with no defined 
percentage trigger level. Of the main, highlighted convenience retailers in the 
town centre, Iceland’s offer is primarily centred on frozen food (although there will 
be some overlap) and M&S offers a premium offer which is distinct from Lidl’s. 
The peer reviewer agrees that the overall impact on the town centre is not seen 
as significant. 

 
 Retail/town centre impact summary  
 
11.24 Members are advised that the applicant’s sequential and retail impact 

assessments have been robustly reviewed by the peer reviewer. Their advice 
corroborates the findings of the assessment and, as such, officers advise that the 
application accords with policies S16 and DM8 of the adopted Local Plan as well 
as the provisions of the NPPF, including paragraph 89.  

 
11.25 In response to one of the objector’s comment not explicitly covered above, 

although the application is for a general A1 retail store, it is not speculative as it 
has a specific trader. Nevertheless, to ensure that the assessment of impact is 
reflected in the operation, the extent of the sales floor areas for the retail types 
should be restricted by planning condition. With such conditions the primary 
convenience offer of the store would not significantly impact on the town centre 
but would alternatively affect other out of town stores (including the objector’s). 
Competition and the effect on out of town retailers are not material planning 
considerations.  
 
Design/ Landscaping 

 
11.26 Policy S4, S5 and DM14 seek the delivery of a satisfactory standard of design. 

The design adopts the company’s standard generic contemporary design with a 
modern partially glazed and panelled building. The store is sited within the centre 
on the plot with parking provision on its southern and eastern edges. The 
application site is relatively open and level in its appearance and therefore the 
building will be prominent in the approach coming across the bridge from 
Northside. 

 
11.27 The applicant has retained all of the protected Swedish Whitebeam trees subject 

of the TPO and intends to supplement the proposed perimeter paladin fence with 
additional landscaping in order to soften the visual impact of the development. 
Indeed some landscaping e.g. kidney vetch, seeks to enhance the biodiversity 
value of the site. Officers therefore consider the proposed development complies 
with both the design criteria of policy S4, S5 and DM14 and the landscaping 
criteria of Policy S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan. The trees will need to be 
protected by fencing during construction and this can be secured by condition. 

Page 48



 
Ecology  

 
11.28 Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to protect the biodiversity of sites 

and safeguard the habitat of any protected wildlife species. The application 
documents include an ecology survey. It refers to the nearest upstream national 
designations of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC and SSSI 
(850m) as well as Siddick Pond SSSI (510m distant) in addition to a range of 
local designated wildlife sites and Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) habitats.  
 

11.29 The site is identified as a potential interest site for UK Biodiversity Action Plan 
2007 (BAP) Small Blue butterfly species which occupy dry sheltered areas of 
grassland where kidney vetch grows. The survey concludes there will be no 
significant residual effect on these designations, albeit kidney vetch is included 
within the landscaping specification. The survey also assessed the impact on 
other species including bats, otters, badgers, protected fish (salmon, river brook 
and sea lamprey) as well as specially protected birds (off site local importance 
including kingfisher), breeding birds and reptiles. Officers acknowledge that, 
although the development does not directly affect any statutory ecological 
designations, by virtue of its tidal location adjacent to the River Derwent, the 
impact of any works have the potential to migrate within the upstream tidal 
section of the river which are designated under the SSSI and SAC and any of 
their associated habitats. There are potential implications of run-off during 
construction and variations from the existing surface water dynamics following 
the completion of the development. 

 
11.30 It was concluded there would be no significant residual effect from the 

development on these species, but some mitigation measures were 
recommended including further checks for evidence of any species, control on 
lighting details and a buffer strip on the northern perimeter of the site. In addition 
enhancement measures were recommended including the creation of small blue 
butterfly habitat, three bird boxes, two bat boxes and the use of native planting. 

 
Flood risk Drainage  

 
11.31  Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure satisfactory surface water 

drainage details and minimise the risk of flooding. 
 
11.32 With the exception of a very small area of landscaping, the site is located in Flood 

Zone 1, the zone at least probability of flooding from rivers and the sea and, 
sequentially, the preferred location for development. 

 
11.33 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states the risk from flooding from rivers, 

sea, land, groundwater sewers and any other artificial sources is considered to 
be low. In mitigation terms it was recommended floor levels be identified. This is 
a robust conclusion given the Environment Agency’s mapping not only indicating 
that the site is in flood zone 1 but it is also not recorded at being at risk of 
flooding from other sources such as surface water.  

 

Page 49



11.34 In terms of surface water drainage, ground conditions are not suitable for 
infiltration. Therefore, the surface water drainage is proposed to be via an outfall 
into the River Derwent, with the foul via the public sewer. The implications of the 
outfall were considered as part of the ecological assessment and this discharge 
method is considered to be the most appropriate and accords with the drainage 
hierarchy detailed in policy S29 and the NPPF. 

 
Contamination 

 
11.35  Policy S30 outlines the criteria for the reuse of land which includes addressing 

any contamination.  
 
11.36  The application was supported by a ground investigation report including a range 

of mitigation measures. Neither ABC’s Environmental Health Officer nor the 
Environment Agency raise concerns on this issue, but the latter refers to the 
potential for any pollution transfer due to the tidal activity of the River Derwent to 
ecological designated sites upstream. As already detailed in the Ecology section 
of this report, measures including a Construction Management Plan can address 
this matter appropriately. The proposal therefore complies with policy S30 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 1) 

 
Residential Amenity 

11.37  Policy S32 seeks to ensure that the residential amenity of communities is 
maintained to an appropriate level. 

 
11.38  The application included a noise assessment with the nearest sensitive noise 

receptor residential properties being located in the Northside estate to the north 
west approximately 170m distance from the site. The survey accounted for 
existing day and night time noise levels and accounted for traffic noise as well as 
that from fixed plant. It concluded any impact from daytime levels (with 
dominating background noise levels from traffic) will be low. It is also envisaged 
the impact from night time levels will also be low. 

 
11.39 The existing neighbouring Tesco retail store approved in 1990, which includes its 

delivery yard beyond the site’s perimeter, is not subject to any planning 
conditions restricting hours of opening/ deliveries, with no record of disturbance 
complaints from its operational activities.  

 
11.40 It is considered that the proposal (subject to planning conditions to control noise 

disturbance e.g. fixed plant) complies with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local plan 
(Part 1) with regard to noise. Indeed, it is the construction phase rather than the 
operational phase that could, without a Construction Management Plan, result in 
amenity issues to residents. One caveat recommended by the Council’s 
Environmental Health team is that there should be an overall limit to noise during 
the operational phase. This is considered to be a reasonable requirement. 

 
11.41 The distances to the Northside dwellings will also mean no significant loss of 

amenity from glare from the lighting, overlooking or overshadowing. 
.  

Page 50



 
 

Access and Parking 
 

11.42  Policy S22 outlines the criteria of transport principles seeking sustainable 
objectives i.e. improving travel choice and trips by non-car modes but securing 
satisfactory means of access, parking and turning for both public and commercial 
residual traffic. 

 
11.43  The site lies within the Principal Service Centre of Workington and directly abuts 

existing lit, segregated footways and cycleways and is within 400m of large 
residential areas. There are also bus stops served by regular services to 
Workington town centre, Flimby and Maryport. The railway station is also within 
an acceptable walking distance although it is accepted that customers to a 
predominantly convenience store are unlikely to travel by train, but it does offer 
sustainable accessibility for employees.  

 
11.44  In terms of vehicular traffic, the proposal incorporates a new access to the 

highway frontage onto the southern approach to the bridge over the River 
Derwent. This is the A597 and the traffic flows to and from the store as a 
percentage of overall flows will be very low. This has been robustly assessed by 
the applicant and verified by the County Highways Authority. The new junction 
includes a central island and a box junction. A pedestrian crossing is proposed 
on the southern side of the junction with a section of the existing wall removed to 
secure the visibility splays. 

 
11.45 Overall, the County Highways Authority raise no objections subject to planning 

conditions to ensure the access and off-site works are completed to an 
appropriate standard. The highway merits of the scheme are therefore 
considered acceptable. 

 
11.46 The Highways Authority’s request for a contribution for works to Duke Street is 

considered unreasonable as there is no direct impact demonstrated; the access 
is directly onto the A597 with traffic to the Oxford Street area of the town centre 
more likely to travel via the gyratory next to the Railway Station. 

 
Gas utility infrastructure 
 

11.47  An existing gas pipeline traverses in a north-south orientation down the eastern 
side of the site. Northern Gas has outlined its specifications for any works within 
proximity of the pipeline including separation easements, methods of working etc. 
Additional amended information has been received to ensure compliance with 
these technical requirements with mitigation measures, prompting the withdrawal 
of Northern Gas’s initial objection.  

 
Heritage  

 
11.48  Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to safeguard, conserve and 

enhance heritage assets in safeguarding their significance and historic value. 
Although this reflects duties contained within sections 66 and 72 of the Listed 

Page 51



Buildings Act, the matter is not considered to be at the heart of the 
considerations of this application given the separation distance to the heritage 
assets in question and intervening existing development. Nevertheless, for 
robustness, the matter of heritage is considered and the applicant was required 
to submit a heritage statement with the application. Historic England’s GPA Note 
3 – assessing setting of heritage assets, was used to assess any harm. 

 
11.49 St. Michael’s Conservation Area is located approximately 450 metres to the 

south. This designation includes the landmark Grade ll* listed buildings of St. 
Michael’s Church and its neighbouring Rectory (approx. 400 to the south ) and 
the Grade ll listed Joseph Pirt industrial works (approx. 440m to the south west).  
The nearest scheduled monuments are Burrow Walls (WHS) (0.85km), Jane Pit 
(1.58km distant) and Workington Hall  (1.08km).  

 
11.50  Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development 
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification”  

 
11.51 Officers advise that no significance of any of these assets is derived from a 

setting that includes the site. Indeed, none of these assets are directly impacted 
by the proposed development. The setting of the listed building will be preserved 
as will the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
 
Economic Benefits of the Proposal 

 
11.52  The NPPF, at Paragraph 19, states that the Government is committed to 

ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable 
economic growth and that  significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth through the planning system. In terms of achieving the 
economic role of the planning system of contributing to building a strong, 
responsive and competitive economy, it is recognised that the proposal would 
have economic benefits. The proposal would create further employment and its 
investment would support the economic growth of the area. 

 
11.53  In accordance with Paragraph 19 of the NPPF, the economic benefits of the 

proposal and the resulting support to economic growth carries ‘significant weight’. 
The proposals would make a positive and contribution in terms of further 
investment within Workington and the creation of further employment 
opportunities and bring a long term vacant overgrown site back into beneficial 
use. 

 

Local Financial Considerations 
 
11.54  Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

 

 

 

Page 52



12.0 Conclusions 

12.1  The proposal accord with the provisions of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014. It is a 
sustainable development that will not impact on Workington Town Centre and it 
has been robustly evidenced why other, sequentially preferable sites in the town 
centre and edge of centre are not suitable. There are significant benefits arising 
from job creation. Matters such as drainage, ecological impact and contamination 
can be satisfactorily mitigated by condition.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 

In Accordance: 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans: 

  Dwg 01 Proposed Lighting Layout.  

  Dwg 16-1093-104 Rev B Site Access Arrangement.  

  Dwg 07714-00-GF-DR-A-01-0001-S3-P1 General Arrangement Plan - Ground   
Floor.  

  Dwg 07714-00-RF-DR-A-01-0001-S3-P1 - General Arrangement Plan - Roof.  

  Dwg 07714-00-XX-DR-A-02-0001-S3-P1 - General Arrangement Elevations.  

  Dwg 07714-00-XX-DR-A-90-0001-S3-P4 - Site Location Plan.  

  Dwg 07714-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 - Boundary Treatment Plan.  

  Dwg AIA TPP Rev C Tree Protection Plan (TPP Rev C).  

  Dwg AMS TPP Rev C Tree Protection Plan (AMS TPP Rev C).  

  Dwg L.D.45.001.A Planting Plan (P.1 of 2).  

  Amended Drawing No 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-91-1001-P16-S3 - Site  
Plan - ECO Store Type 14.11.19.  
  Additional Information Plan 002 Rev A External Works Layout 21-11-19.pdf  
  Additional Information Plan 002 Rev A External Works Layout 21-11-19.pdf   

  Arboricultural Impact Assessment Rev C.  

  Arboricultural Method Statement Rev C.  

  Dwg SK0001 Rev C Drainage Strategy Plan.  

  Ecological Impact Assessment.  

  Flood Risk and Drainage Impact Assessment.  

Noise Assessment.  

Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Investigation and Risk Assessment.  

Travel Plan.  

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 

Page 54

javascript:AppBlobImage('488376');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488377');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488378');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488378');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488379');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488380');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488381');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488382');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488383');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488384');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488385');
javascript:AppBlobImage('495630');
javascript:AppBlobImage('495630');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488829');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488829');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488829');
javascript:AppBlobImage('496446');
javascript:AppBlobImage('496446');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488406');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488407');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488409');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488410');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488413');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488414');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488415');


 Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3.  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed until the 

approved protective fencing outlined on drawing Dwg AMS TPP Rev C Tree 
Protection Plan (AMS TPP Rev C), has been implemented prior to the 
commencement of the development and maintained at all times during the 
construction period. 

 
Reason: To ensure the retention of existing protected important trees on the site 
in compliance with Policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

  
4.  No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 

Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall include the following: 

 
a)  Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 

development, including on-site parking and turning facilities for site 
and staff traffic and demolition and construction access details; 

b)  Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to 
BS7445. 

c)  Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution; 

d)  A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 

e)  Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition; 

f)  Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
g)  Hours of working and deliveries; 
h)  Details of lighting to be used on site. The approved statement shall be 

adhered to throughout the duration of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  

 
5. Prior to the commencement of works, details of the finished floor level of 

the retail building hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding in the locality of the site to accord with 
policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 

 
6.  The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed, 

constructed, drained to a standard suitable for adoption and, in this 
respect, further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 

Page 55

javascript:AppBlobImage('488384');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488384');


submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full specification 
has been approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is complete.  

 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety in compliance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014.  

 
7.  Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating SUDs 

features as far as practicable) and a maintenance schedule (identifying the 
responsible parties) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval prior to development being commenced. The details will 
demonstrate that no flooding will occur on any part of the site for a 1 in 30 
year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur to any building 
in a 1 in 100 year event plus 30% to account for climate change, and where 
reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 
year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes (plans of flow 
routes etc) . The submitted drainage details shall be carried out (in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk and 
Drainage Impact Assessment ref: 2019051 Revision D dated August 2019 
proposing surface water discharging into watercourse written by Portland 
Consulting Engineers. Any approved works shall be implemented prior to 
the development being completed and shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the schedule.  

 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface water system 
continues to function as designed and that flood risk is not increased within the 
site or elsewhere in compliance with policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) 2014.  

 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 
8. Before the use commences details of the arrangements for the storage and 

disposal of waste from the premises shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be implemented 
as approved and retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the visual amenity of other properties in 

the locality from the operational use of the application site, in compliance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 

(Part 1), July 2014.  

9.  The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with Para 7 
“Advise and recommendations “of the Geotechnical & Environmental 
Associates Ground Investigation report (July 2016) and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior 
to the development being brought into operational use.  

 

Page 56



Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  

 
10.  In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.  

 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014. 

  
11.  The approved external lighting details shall be solely implemented in 

accordance with Dwg 01 Proposed Lighting Layout, prior to the operational 
use of the retail land use hereby approved and shall not depart from those 
levels which are specified in the approved assessment. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1, 2014. 

  
12.  The approved operational retail use of the development hereby permitted 

shall not commence until the approved means of enclosure details outlined 
on Dwg 07714-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 - Boundary Treatment Plan, have 
been constructed. These details shall be retained at all times and no part 
thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area in compliance with Policy S33 and 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).   

 
13.  Noise emanating from the site shall not exceed 5Db(A) above the 

background noise level when measured 3m from the facade of the nearest 
noise sensitive use, namely '10 Northside Road Workington, CA14 1BD'. 
Measurements shall be taken in accordance with BS7445:2003. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 

 

Page 57

javascript:AppBlobImage('488376');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488382');


14.  A full specification for all the fixed refrigeration and ventilation plant for the 
retail A1 units including octave band data, its location and any necessary 
mitigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any construction works above plinth level. The 
development shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the commencement of the use and retained at all times 
thereafter. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 

  
15.   All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved scheme Dwg 

L.D.45.001.A Planting Plan (P.1 of 2), shall be carried out in the first 
planting season following completion of the development, and any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality in compliance Policy S33 and DM14 
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. 

 
16.  Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  
 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution and to accord with policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  

 
17.  Development shall not start trading until the approved pedestrian crossing 

has been implemented and shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of 
the development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety and in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
2014.  

 
18.  The development shall not be brought into use until the visibility splays 

and access arrangement providing clear visibility as shown on plan 16-
1093-201 Rev C Access General Arrangement are provided at the junction 
of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.  

 

Page 58

javascript:AppBlobImage('488385');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488385');


 Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  

 

19.  Within 6 months of the development (or any part thereof) opening for 
business, the developer shall prepare and submit to the Local Planning 
Authority for their approval an updated Travel Plan which shall identify the 
measures that will be undertaken by the developer to encourage the 
achievement of a modal shift away from the use of private cars to visit the 
development to sustainable transport modes in  accordance with the 
principles of Chapter 7 of the Cora Travel plan document dated August 
2019 . The updated plan shall include details of an annual report reviewing 
the effectiveness of the Travel Plan and including any necessary 
amendments or measures. The measures identified in the Travel Plan shall 
be implemented by the developer within 12 months of the development (or 
any part thereof) opening for business.  

 
 Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in compliance 
with policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

 
20.  The access roads, parking areas etc shall be designed, constructed, 

drained and lit, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in 
this respect full engineering details, shall be submitted for approval before 
construction works commence above ground level. The use shall not be 
commenced until such access and parking/servicing areas and pedestrian 
access routes have been constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans. All such provision shall be maintained for as long as the use 
continues and shall not be removed or altered thereafter, without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access and public safety/security 
when the development is brought into use and is retained thereafter in 
compliance with policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

  
21.  The application sites retail A1 unit hereby approved shall not exceed 1004 

m2 floorspace for the sale of convenience goods and 248m2 for comparison 
goods without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance 
with Policies S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

 
22.  The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 

mitigation and recommendations outlined in Section 4 and 5 of the Enzygo 
Ecological Assessment report dated August 2019. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the habitat of protected species in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.   

 
  

Page 59



 

  

Page 60



  

Page 61



 

Page 62



ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

TREE PRESESERVATION ORDER NO9 OF 2019 

DEVELOPMENT PANEL REPORT 

 

Reference Number:   TPO no 9 of 2019 
Location:      Land adjacent to Tesco, New Bridge Road,  
     Workington 
Proposal:     Confirmation of tree preservation order for 6  
     Swedish Whitebeams  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT THE ORDER TPO NO.9 OF 2019 FOR 6 SWEDISH WHITEBEAMS (G1) AT 

LAND ADJACENT TO TESCO, BRIDGE STREET, WORKINGTON BE 

CONFIRMED 

 

1.0 Summary  

Issue Conclusion 

Amenity and Expediency   The TEMPO assessment carried out by the Council 

resulted in a score of 16 –  definitely merits TPO 

 

2.0 Introduction  
  
2.1  The Tree Preservation Order was made on 28th June 2019 at New Bridge 

Road in order to protect 6 Swedish Whitebeam trees located adjacent to the 
A596. 

 
 
3.0 Site 
 
3.1 The site comprises undeveloped greenfield land to the north of Tesco, 
 adjacent to the River Derwent beyond the defined town centre of Workington. 
 The site has a covering of grassland and scrub vegetation with some mature 
 trees.  
 
 
4.0 Relevant planning history 

4.1 The trees are on the site which is subject to application FUL/2019/0210.  An, 
 extant planning permission exists for a public house and restaurant, 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



 with associated living accommodation, ref 2/2017/0255 (amended by 
 2/2017/0499).  This permission includes the removal of one of the trees which 
 are the subject of this TPO. 
 
4.2 The Application FUL/2019/0210 does not propose the removal of any of the 
 trees which are the subject of this TPO.   
 
 
5.0 Legislation  
 
5.1 The primary legislation relating to Tree Preservation Orders is the Town and 
 Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by section 192 of the 2008 Planning 
 Act. The 1990 Act provided the ability for secondary legislation to be made 
 setting out the statutory framework for the making and confirming of Tree 
 Preservation Orders. Currently this is the Town and Country Planning (Tree 
 Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 
 2012. 
 
 
6.0 Policy and guidance framework 
 
6.1 Following the publication of the first National Planning Policy Framework 
 (NPPF) in 2012 the government commenced the on-line National Planning 
 Practice Guidance (NPPG) to replace guidance such as circulars. The 
 NPPG is a live document that can be updated. At the time of this report it 
 advised that:- 
 
 “Local planning authorities can make a Tree Preservation Order if it appears 
 to them to be ‘expedient in the interests of amenity to make provision for the 
 preservation of trees or woodlands in their area. Authorities can either initiate 
 this process themselves or in response to a request made by any other party. 
 When deciding whether an Order is appropriate, authorities are advised to 
 take into consideration what ‘amenity’ means in practice, what to take into 
 account when assessing amenity  value, what ‘expedient’ means in practice, 
 what trees can be protected and how they can be identified.” 
 

Amenity 
 

6.2 It is noted that ‘Amenity’ is not defined in the primary or secondary legislation 
 so a judgement has to be made.  The NPPG advises that Orders should be 
 used to protect selected trees and woodlands if their removal would have a 
 significant negative impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the 
 public. Before authorities make or confirm an Order they should be able to 
 show that protection would bring a reasonable degree of public benefit in the 
 present or future. It cites various criteria which can be used by councils to 
 make the judgement:- 
 

a) Visibility - The extent to which the tree can be seen by the public. It 
should normally be visible from a public place, such as a road or 
footpath, or accessible by the public. 

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/regulation/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#Tree-Preservation-Orders-made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-value
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#expedient-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#what-trees-protected
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#trees-identified


b) Individual, collective and wider impact - Public visibility alone will not be 
sufficient to warrant an Order.  The Council also needs to consider size 
and form; future potential as an amenity; rarity, cultural or historic 
value;  contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and 
contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area. 
 

6.3 Where relevant the Council may also consider taking into account other 
 factors, such  as importance to nature conservation or response to climate 
 change. These factors alone would not warrant making an Order. 
 
6.4 It may be expedient to make an Order if the Council believes there is a risk of 
 trees being felled, pruned or damaged in ways which would have a significant 
 impact on the amenity of the area. However, it is not necessary for there to be 
 immediate risk for there to be a need to protect trees. In some cases the 
 Council may believe that certain trees are at risk as a result of development 
 pressures. As explained in this report, this is the case here. 
 
7.0  The Order 
 
7.1 The TPO was made following pre-application discussions with the applicant 

for the planning application FUL/2019/0210 for the erection of a discount food 
store with car parking, landscaping and associated works. Initial discussions 
and plans included the removal of the Whitebeams. Following this Council 
officers assessed the amenity value of the trees using the TEMPO (Tree 
Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders). The value is explored in more 
detail in the assessment section of this report. The expediency was judged to 
be there due to the intention for the land to be developed and the trees to be 
removed. 

 
7.2 The Order was then made on 28 June 2019 and, as per the 2012 

Regulations, the necessary publicity undertaken.  
 
7.3 Following the expiration of the publicity period and consideration of all 
 representations received the Council can confirm the Order, either with or 
 without modification, to provide long-term tree protection.  It may also decide 
 not to confirm the Order, which will stop its effect. The Council cannot confirm 
 an Order unless they have first considered any duly made objections or other 
 representations.  
 
 
8.0 Representations 
 
 Objections 
 
8.1 On 17 July 2019, Rapleys LLP property and planning consultants, on behalf 
 of Lidl Great Britain Limited, submitted a letter of objection to the TPO. Under 
 its heading ‘Outline of Objection’, it states the following:  
 
 ‘Notwithstanding the above and whilst the Applicant appreciates the merits of 
 the order being made, we consider that there are still significant points in 

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/regulation/7/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#object-and-comment-on-TPO
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#object-and-comment-on-TPO


 favour of siting the store access in its original position (as shown on plan at 
 Appendix 2), which requires the loss trees T1-T3. We set our reasons out 
 below.  

It is acknowledged that the trees are visible in the wider area, however we fail 
to fully understand the level of positive contribution they provide to the 
immediate area and their associated amenity value of the area. The trees are 
located next to Tesco’s servicing site access and next to the rather dated 
Workington stadium. There are no discernable amenity features which would 
distinguish these trees from other unprotected trees which are also  located in 
a similar open area of land adjacent to the river. Therefore we are of the 
opinion that the trees provide very limited amenity value overall.  

 Furthermore, the whole development is considered to act as catalyst to unlock 
 future development further to the west, which is a material consideration in 
 favour of the scheme. It is considered that the protection of trees would result 
 in a poorer form of development than that which could otherwise be achieved.’ 
 
 LPA comment in response to objection  
 
8.2 It is accepted that the location is mixed use with a variety of out of centre uses 

and mixed quality buildings, but it is considered that the trees in question 
provide attractive shapes and welcome greenery to the area. Whilst it is 
accepted that there can be differing opinions on the amenity value of these, 
and any, trees, it is considered that their visual qualities as individual trees, 
but also cumulatively as a coherent group, provide attractive green relief to an 
area which has limited architectural or landscape distinctiveness. The trees 
are also relatively rare and are in positions prominent in views from sensitive 
receptors including Northside Bridge and the coastal path alongside the south 
bank of the River Derwent. The trees add welcome visual relief and habitat in 
an area to the north of Bridge Road that is relatively sparse.  

  
8.4 It is considered that arguments about the efficient layout of the site and merits 

of a particular development proposal are not relevant to the decision about 
whether the trees are worthy of protection.  Such arguments could be a 
consideration as part of a planning application, or in the event of a TPO 
application for removal, when all relevant factors relating to any particular 
proposal can be assessed holistically. Furthermore, the current planning 
application clearly demonstrates that no trees need to be removed to facilitate 
the viable development of the site and the land beyond to the west. 

 
 
9.0 Assessment 
 
9.1 As detailed above in the response to the objector, these are highly visible 

trees.   
 
9.2 The Swedish Whitebeams form a coherent group of attractively shaped sturdy 
 looking trees, which add interest and diversity to this area of mixed use, edge 
 of town large C20th buildings.  Some of the trees have imperfections and bark 
 defects, and these may have an impact upon their longevity.  However, it 

Page 66



 considered that the majority would survive for at least up to 20 years and, in 
 this time, they will provide very visible amenity.   
 
9.3 The TEMPO assessment carried out by the Council resulted in a score of 16 – 
 definitely merits TPO.  This score was reached following the following criteria;  
 
 Part 1: Amenity assessment  
 

a) Condition and suitability of TPO – score of 3 (fair/satisfactory) 
b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO – score of 2   (10-20 year - 

just suitable) 
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO – score of 4  (large trees, or 

medium trees clearly visible to the public) 
 

Subtotal – 9 (min of 7 required to proceed to Other factors)  
 

d) Other factors – score of 4 (tree groups or principal groups important for 
their cohesion)  

 
Part 1 Total – 13 (min of 10 required to proceed to Part 2) 

 
 Part 2: Expediency assessment 
 
 Score of 3 – foreseeable threat to tree 
 
 The tree was protected following a pre-application enquiry in May 2019 for the 
 development of the site for the Lidl store.  The proposed layout at that time 
 involved an access which would require the removal of the trees.  Without 
 protection, it was therefore considered that there was a foreseeable threat to 
 the tree.   
 
 Part 3: Decision guide 
 
 Total score of 16 - definitely merits TPO 
 
 
10.0 Conclusion 
 
10.1 The trees are considered to make a significant contribution to amenity. They 

meet the decision criteria under the TEMPO assessment and are considered 
to be under threat by a development proposal.  Furthermore, as is shown in 
the layout of application no FUL/2019/0210, the site can be developed without 
the need for the removal of these trees. It is therefore recommended that the 
TPO be confirmed.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT THE ORDER TPO NO.9 OF 2019 FOR 6 SWEDISH WHITEBEAMS (G1) AT 

LAND ADJACENT TO TESCO, BRIDGE STREET, WORKINGTON BE 

CONFIRMED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

Page 69



Page 70



 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 FUL/2019/0206 Erection of single storey dwelling, Mardale, William Street, Wigton
	6 FUL/2019/0210 Erection of new discount foodstore with car parking, landscaping and other associated works, Land at New Bridge Road, Workington
	7 TPO/2019/0009 Confirmation of tree preservation order for 6 Swedish Whitebeams, Land adjacent to Tesco, New Bridge Road, Workington

